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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Archibald Taylor House, surrounded by large trees, stands at the

| end of a long, straight drive-=once lined by trees~—amid rolling farmland
in northeast Franklin County. The large frame house, standing on a full-
height raised basement, is a notable example of the full-blown Italianate
idiom of Warrenton builder Jacob Holt. Although it is unpainted and some-
what deteriorated, nearly all the original fabric survives unaltered.

‘The simple boxlike form of the house is emphasized by heavy cormer postg,
wide exterior baseboards, and the wide bracketed frieze beneath a hip roof.
In contrast to this strongly rectilinear form is the highly ornamental use
of arches, which are, in contrast to the variety of arches used by Holt in
other houses, all ogee-shaped. This play between the straight, heavy
rectilinear elements of the Greek Revival and the rather fanciful arched
ones is used consistently inside and out and is characteristic of Holt's

work.

The house, which stands on a roughly seven—foot-high raised basement,
is three bays wide a2nd two widely spaced bays deep, with two interior
chimneys with simplz molded caps. Heavy fluted corner posts on large square

bases rise to brackzzzed caps and carry the wide bracketed frieze beneath

the deep overhang <= the roof. The brackets are triangular, with turned
pendants. Across t-= main (south) facade extends a full-width three-bay
porch with paired pcosts resembling the corner posts. Each pair is joined

at the top by an ct== arch above and beneath by a balustrade-height arched
panel. The porch rzoeats the bracket cornice of the house, but the brackets
are widely spaced—-cccurring in pairs above the posts and at the apex of the
shallow openwork ozzz arches in each of the three bays of the porch; a

turned pendant repeating the bracket pendant drops from the apex of each
ogee arch. A balustrade once extended around the porch; remmants survive
of a heavy molded ra2il and slender turned balusters. The paired posts recur
at the facade on the ends of the porch. The ceiling of the porch is flat-
paneled, and here a surprising amount of probably original paint exists,
with rails and stiles in blue—green and panels in lime green. (Traces of
the blue-green are barely visible under the eaves of the west wall.)

The front doorway is quite an elaborate composition, reflecting the
elements used throughout the house. Very heavy fluted pilasters flank the
doorway and carry a full-width frieze. The pilasters project from the wall,
and their inner sides, fluted in panels like their fronts, serve as reveals
for the doorway. The soffit is also fluted. 1In the center of the upper
frieze is a gilded, painted cartouche with scrolls. The doorway itself
consists of a double door--each leaf with four tall ogee-arched panels with
heavy moldings. This is flanked by ogee—arched sidelights. The transom
has three lights, separated and flanked by heavy bracketed elements: a
wide, ogee-arched central transom light, and smaller ogee-arched lights
above the sidelights. Some vestiges of the frosted glass, with tiny
quatre~f01l patterns, exist. This is the most ornate doorway treatment yet
seen in a Holt house, and may be unique in the thorough appllcatlon of the

ogee—arched motif.
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The flanking bays of this facade contain tall double windows: each is set
in a heavy rectangular frame and contains two four-over-four sash windows with
each upper sash ogee-arched. Some louvered blinds survive. Similar windows
occur at the second level, on the sides of the house, and at the rear. The
first level of the rear, however, is four bays wide, all bays being filled
with doors with four panels. The porch that once existed at the rear is

completely gone.

The basement, of brick laid in one-to-five common bond, has windows
corresponding in location to those of the main floors. The entrance to the
basement, beneath the main entrance, is set in a heavy molded frame and has
paneled reveals and pilasters terminating in brackets, that separate the
doorway from the sidelights.

The interior, zs is standard in Holt's houses, follows a center-hall plan
two rooms deep, witz rooms 24 feet square. The basement, with plastered brick
walls, follows the sz—e scheme. It has rooms once used as kitchen and dining
room. The finish ¢ the main floors is also typical of Holt's work, with very
heavy molded basebozx?s and door and window frames throughout, the door frames
ending in heavy molzzZ fzet that break out from the baseboards. At the
windows, the frames =zztend to the floor to frame paired panels. Some panels
are painted and gilzzd with floral and scroll motifs. Many of the baseboards
are marbleized, arnd Zoors woodgrained. The interior doors, like the front
doors, have four ozzz—arched panels. Mantels are of several different types—-
all common to Holt's houses. That in the west front parlor has pilasters and
a frieze each adornad with long flat panels terminating in a trefoil spearhead
design; there is a wide shelf and slightly arched backboard. 1In the rear west
room is a similar mantel but with a fluted frieze "roll.'" Other mantels
follow variations of these schemes, while others follow simple Greek Revival

lines.

. The most remarkable room in the house is the central hall, which contains
the stairs. Typical of Holt's work, it is divided midway its length by a wall
with a large doorway; hinges remain indicating the existence of a probably
louvered door common to Holt's houses. In each half of the hall rises a stair,
the front one from front to back, the rear from back to front. Each has a very
heavy turned newel with faceted cap and turned finial, a heavy molded rail,
slim turned balusters, and an open string adorned with simple moldings. A
small landing connacts the long initial flight and a shorter transverse flight.
The rail of the front stair ramps dramatically at the junctures of the flights.

The plastered walls and ceilings of the front hall are painted in colorfuly-
almost garish-—trompe 1'oeil fashion; others of Holt's houses retain some
trompe 1l'oeil painting, including pink marble blocks at Reedy Rill, but none
vet seen rival the work here. The walls, above baseboards resembling black
marble, are painted to resemble blocks of slate blue, tan, and white marble.
At the top of the wall and extending slightly into the ceiling there is painted
a cornice adormned with paired brackets. The ceiling is painted with several

GPO 92t.724
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large panels, each with scrolls in the corners and an elaborate "plaster"
medallion in the center. All of this is done with a skillfulness that makes
it quite convincing. The plastered soffit of the upper flight of stairs has
mostly fallen down, but enough remains to see the outline of a framed portrait
painted there--—said to have been of a son, Archibald Lennox, who died young.
The second-floor finish is somewhat simpler than the first with wide base-
boards, rectangular panels beneath the windows, and two-tone brown painted
doors. Door and window frames are symmetrically molded with roundel corner
blocks, and mantels are similar to those below.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

. Franklin County, and may have also acquired other tracts as well. On

The Archibald Taylor House was built by Jacob Holt, evidently between
1855 and 1858. It is among Warrenton builder Holt's more elaborate
dwelllbva. his typical two=-story Italianate composition is heavily orna=~
mented with Tudor-arched motifs, and the interior contains impressive
1 wall and ceiling painting. The grand scale, ornate trim, and

trompe 1'ozil

rundown condirion of the unpainted plantation house give it ‘a memorable
aura of faded =2legance, evocative of its brlef heyday in the 1850s before
the comlng 0f Th=s 1v1l Var and its owner s bankruptcy.

Arcrni>z3d Tzylor was born about 1820, son of Robert Taylor, a large
Granv1lL Ccunrtr landowner who provided him with a plantation in Granville
Tavlor's will of 1845 confirmed his son's ownership of the
:ady occupying and left him slaves as well. Imn 1847,

r married Mary Boddie Perry of Franklin County--a member of

]

a family numar ca_ly,,soc1ally, and economically dominant in that county,
said to be descended from seven Perry brothers who settled there in the
mid-eighteenth century. In 1850 Taylor bought a 120-acre tract of land in
November 20, 1855, he bought at auction from the estate of George W. Stampey
for $10,000 a tract of 2,400 acres on Shocco Creek near property owned by
his wife's relatives. It is evidently upon this tract and shortly after
this purchase (paid in full by 1858) that Archibald and Mary Taylor began
an elaborate Italianate plantation house.

Stylistic evidence makes it abundantly clear that the house is the
work of Jacob Holt, a Virginian who practiced as architect—~builder in
Warrenton from the mid-1840s until at least 1860. Family tradition says
that the interior painting was done by craftsmen from Philadelphia, bhut at
least one other Holt-—built house has similar--though simpler—-work and was
probably done by Holt's workmen. It is interesting to note that there were
at least two other Holt-built houses within a few miles of the Taylor House
closely related by family: Dr. Sam Perry was Mary's brother and John B.
Williams of Buxton Place was her uncle. Other Holt-built houses in Franklin
and Warren counties were also built for slightly more distant relatives.
References exist in the farm journal of the owner of amother nearby Holt
house to visiting "Arch Taylor s" in 1858 and to visiting Oxford along with
"A. Taylor."
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As is evident from the scale and finish of the house, Taylor was--like
the Perry, Alston, and Williams relatives of his wife~-a substantial planter.
The 1855 tax listing shows him with 925 acres, but from 1857 onward he is
listed with 2,400 acres, gold and silver watches, carriages, and numerous
slaves. The 1860 Census lists Taylor as farmer, aged 40, with real estate
valued at $24,330 and personal property at $80,500. His wife Mary was 33,
and after thirteen years of marriage they had but one child-~-Archibald, aged
one. Taylor owned 62 slaves in 10 slave houses (his wife had been devised by
her father's will 21 slaves). The farm included 800 acres improved and
1,633 unimproved. In addition to standard crops including 2,000 bushes of
corn, the plantation produced 40,000 pounds of tobacco. These figures place
Taylor among the upper echelon of farmers in a county made up primarily of

small farmers.

During and immediately after tﬁe Civil War, Taylor held onto his propertyt
tax listings from 1866 to 1871 show him with 2,431 acres and a personal estate
of over $10,000. The 1870 Census shows the household including Archibald

PAERL-4

and Mary Taylor, === son (Archibald) Lennox, aged 10, at school, two daughters

and a 3~year old =:=, along with a lé6-year old teacher from Virginia, and a
mulatto farmhand. Tzz eldest son is evidently the one at whose early death
Taylor is said tc zzve had a portrait painted on the stair soffit. In 1867,
however, Taylor hzi had to mortgage the place in order to settle debts between
himself and his brsther Richard. During these years, according to a descen-
dant, Archibald’'s =zother Charles had come into financial difficulties; in

the process of helzning him, Archibald lost his own fortune and moved back to

{!

S

Oxford. On September 19, 1871, Richard W. Harris of Oxford was appointed
assignee of the effects of Archibald Taylor, Bankrupt. In 1873 Harris
advertised the sale of the Taylor property at auction. It was divided into
lots, one of them 612 acres containing '"the fine residence.'" The estate was
s0ld to Benjamin F. Harris, also of Granville County, who paid $6,500 for
2,105 3/4 acres. The house has had many years of tenants and is now in
disrepair.
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